FILED
03-10-2025
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

**STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT II**

Appellate Case No. 2024AP2559

CITY OF WEST BEND,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS-

LOGAN PATRICK LANG,

Defendant-Appellant.

**APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF JUDGMENT ENTERED IN
THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WASHINGTON COUNTY, BRANCH I,
THE HONORABLE RYAN HETZEL PRESIDING,
TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 23-TR-744**

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MELOWSKI & SINGH, LLC

Dennis M. Melowski
State Bar No. 1021187

524 South Pier Drive
Sheboygan, Wisconsin 53081
Tel. 920.208.3800
Fax 920.395.2443
dennis@melowskilaw.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

WHETHER LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS LACKED A REASONABLE SUSPICION TO ENLARGE THE SCOPE OF MR. LANG’S DETENTION IN VIOLATION OF *STATE v. BETOW*, 226 Wis. 2d 90, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1999)?

Trial Court Answered: NO. The circuit court concluded that because, *inter alia*, Mr. Lang was exiting a school parking lot after hours with his headlights extinguished, had a “slight” odor of intoxicants emanating from his vehicle, had “slow” speech, and was “baffled” regarding from where it was he was coming, ample reason existed to enlarge the scope of his detention under *State v. Vaaler*, Case No. 2019AP2174-CR, 394 Wis. 2d 188, 949 N.W.2d 889 (Aug. 6, 2020)(unpublished). R31 at pp. 1-5; D-App. at 103-07.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The Defendant-Appellant will NOT REQUEST oral argument as this appeal presents questions of law which are of a nature that can be addressed by the application of long-standing legal principles, the type of which would not be enhanced by oral argument.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Mr. Lang will NOT REQUEST publication of this Court’s decision as the common law authority regarding the issues he raises is well settled.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 5, 2023, Mr. Lang was arrested in Washington County for Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant—First Offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a), as adopted by West Bend Municipal Ordinance No. 7.01, and Operating a Motor Vehicle with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration—First Offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 343.63(1)(b) as adopted by West Bend Municipal Ordinance No. 7.01. R2.

After retaining counsel, Mr. Lang filed pretrial motions including, *inter alia*, a motion to suppress based upon the unconstitutional enlargement of the scope of his detention in violation of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. R20. A hearing on Mr. Lang's motions was held on July 28, 2023. R27.

At the evidentiary hearing, the City offered the testimony of Officer Kevin Gall of the West Bend Police Department. R27 at pp. 4-37. During the hearing, the Court received as Exhibit No.1 a portion of Officer Gall's body-camera footage of his encounter with Mr. Lang. R27 at 22:15-22; R26.

On January 22, 2024, the circuit court issued a written decision denying Mr. Lang's motion, stating that because Mr. Lang exited a school parking lot after hours without his headlights on, had a "slight" odor of intoxicants emanating from his vehicle, had "slow" speech, and was "baffled" regarding from where it was he was coming, ample reason existed to enlarge the scope of his detention under *State v. Vaaler*, Case No. 2019AP2174-CR, 394 Wis. 2d 188, 949 N.W.2d 889 (Aug. 6, 2020)(unpublished). R31 at pp. 1-5; D-App. at 103-07.

On December 13, 2024, a trial to the court was held whereat Mr. Lang was found guilty of Operating a Motor Vehicle with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration—First Offense. R46. On December 17, 2024, the court entered a judgment of conviction against Mr. Lang. R50.

It is from the foregoing adverse judgment of the circuit court that Mr. Lang appealed to this Court by Notice of Appeal filed on December 17, 2024. R48.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 19, 2022, Logan Lang was stopped and detained in the City of West Bend, Washington County, by Officer Kevin Gall of the West Bend Police Department for pulling out of a middle school parking lot with his lights off. R27 at 7:3-7. The encounter between the officer and Mr. Lang was captured on the officer's body-worn video camera. R26.

After making contact with Mr. Lang, Officer Gall observed a "faint" odor of intoxicants emanating from the Lang vehicle. R27 at 14:13-15. The officer also

alleged that Mr. Lang had “slow and slurred” speech. R27 at 12:1. In its findings of fact, however, the circuit did not find Officer Gall’s testimony credible on this point, instead concluding “that Mr. Lang’s speech was not slurred,” but it added that his speech was “slow and deliberate at times.” R31 at p.4; D-App. at 106.

When Officer Gall asked Mr. Lang whether he consumed any intoxicating beverages that evening, Mr. Lang denied having anything to drink. R27 at 14:25 to 15:2; 15:12-24. Based upon these observations, Officer Gall decided he was going to enlarge the scope of Mr. Lang’s detention by having him submit to a battery of field sobriety tests, whereupon he contacted his dispatcher to request that a second officer come to the scene. R27 at 17:9-16. Shortly thereafter, Mr. Lang was directed to alight from his vehicle for field sobriety testing. R27 at 19:16-22.

At this juncture in the evidentiary hearing, the court determined that further testimony was unnecessary. The court decided that when Mr. Lang alighted his vehicle to submit to testing, the scope of his initial detention was enlarged to include an investigation into an impaired-driving related offense, and since this was the basis for Mr. Lang’s pretrial challenge, “[a]nything [Officer Gall] would find out subsequent to this point is really not relevant . . .” R27 at 22:2-14. Thus, no further testimony was adduced regarding the administration of field sobriety tests, Mr. Lang’s arrest, or his subsequent submission to a blood test.

The foregoing recounting of the facts of Mr. Lang’s case were those adduced on direct examination of Officer Gall. However, there were additional facts to which the officer testified on cross-examination which have a substantial bearing on the issue presented for this Court’s review. These include:

After being detained, when Officer Gall queried Mr. Lang about why he had been stopped in the parking lot of a middle school, Mr. Lang explained that he had pulled over to use his phone to text, and further, Officer Gall admitted that he “had no reason not to” believe Mr. Lang about his reason for being in the school parking lot (R27 at 25:20-25);

Officer Gall conceded that by pulling over to text, Mr. Lang was doing “the smart thing” (R27 at 26:12-17);

As for Mr. Gall’s driving behavior, apart from not having his headlamps lit, as he pulled out of the middle school parking lot, Officer Gall testified that he turned into the appropriate lane of travel (R27 at 27:6-8); he was not speeding (R27 at 27:12-15); he did not operate his vehicle in an erratic manner in that he did not swerve, weave, or deviate from his lane (R27 at 27:16-25); and Officer Gall did not observe Mr. Lang failing to signal his exit from the parking lot (R27 at 30:14-20);

When Mr. Lang pulled over in response to the officer's lights, there was nothing unusual about the manner in which he parked or the distance he was from the curb when he stopped (R27 at 31:12-21);

Mr. Lang already had his driver's license out and ready to give to Officer Gall when the officer approached his vehicle (R27 at 31:22-25);

Officer Gall admitted that he never observed any unusual physical movements on the part of Mr. Lang while he was seated in his motor vehicle (R27 at 32:11 to 33:1);

The odor of intoxicants Officer Gall allegedly observed was not emanating from his person, but rather was coming from the *vehicle* in which he was seated (R27 at 34:6-15);

Officer Gall conceded that **“there were no physical signs of impairment that [he] noticed with [Mr. Lang] prior to having him exit his truck”** (R27 at 37:9-14); and

Mr. Lang's eyes were neither bloodshot nor glassy (R27 at 37:17-20).

For the reasons set forth below, it is Mr. Lang's contention that the circuit court erred when it concluded that the totality of the circumstances in this case justified Officer Gall's enlargement of the scope of Mr. Lang's detention.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Regarding Mr. Lang's challenges to whether the scope of his initial detention was unconstitutionally enlarged, this Court “will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous, [but] [w]hether a . . . detention meets statutory and constitutional standards, . . . , is a question of law subject to *de novo* review.” *State v. Young*, 212 Wis. 2d 417, 424, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1997).

ARGUMENT

I. A REASONABLE SUSPICION TO EXPAND THE SCOPE OF MR. LANG'S DETENTION DID NOT EXIST UNDER THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES.

A. *Introduction.*

Since the issue involved in this appeal centers on the constitutionality of the enlargement of the scope of Mr. Lang's initial detention, it implicates the Fourth Amendment. As such, any analysis of the question presented must begin with the

amendment itself. The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

U.S. Const. amend. IV. “The Fourth Amendment’s purpose is to prevent arbitrary and oppressive interference by law enforcement officials with the privacy and personal security of individuals.” *State v. Riechl*, 114 Wis. 2d 511, 515, 339 N.W.2d 127 (Ct. App. 1983). Capricious police action is not tolerated under the umbrella of the Fourth Amendment. As the Wisconsin Supreme Court noted in *State v. Boggess*, 115 Wis. 2d 443, 340 N.W.2d 516 (1983), “[t]he basic purpose of this prohibition is to safeguard the privacy and security of individuals against arbitrary invasions by government officials.” *Id.* at 448-49; *see also Camara v. Municipal Court*, 387 U.S. 523, 528 (1967).

The Wisconsin Constitution provides coextensive protections against unreasonable searches and seizures under Article I, § 11. Wisconsin courts interpret the protections granted by Article 1, § 11 of Wisconsin’s Constitution identically to those afforded by the Fourth Amendment. *See State v. Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 18, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598; *State v. Phillips*, 218 Wis. 2d 180, ¶ 21, 577 N.W.2d 794 (1998).

When applying the protections against unreasonable searches and seizures, both federal and state courts have consistently held that “[c]onstitutional provisions for the security of persons and property should be **liberally construed.**” *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643, 647 (1961)(emphasis added), citing *Boyd v. United States*, 116 U.S. 616, 635 (1886).

A close and literal construction deprives [these protections] of half their efficacy, and leads to gradual depreciation of the right [to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures], as if it consisted more in sound than in substance. **It is the duty of courts to be watchful for the constitutional rights of the citizen, and against any stealthy encroachments thereon.**

Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 229 (1973)(emphasis added).

The foregoing authority does not stand alone as time and again the Supreme Court has consistently repeated that the Fourth Amendment “guaranties are to be **liberally construed** to prevent impairment of the protection extended.” *Grau v. United States*, 287 U.S. 124, 127 (1932)(emphasis added). The Court has further admonished that “all owe the duty of vigilance for [the Fourth Amendment’s] effective enforcement lest there shall be impairment of the rights for the protection of which it was adopted.” *Go-Bart Importing Co. v. United States*, 282 U.S. 344, 357 (1931). Ultimately, “the Fourth Amendment . . . should be liberally construed **in favor of the individual.**” *Sgro v. United States*, 287 U.S. 206, 210 (1932)(emphasis added).

It is under the rubric of the foregoing paradigm that the question presented by Mr. Lang must be analyzed. Thus, any “close calls”—in the common vernacular—with respect to whether the officer’s actions were constitutionally unreasonable should be resolved in Mr. Lang’s favor.

B. The Betow Standard.

1. The Betow Test Specifically.

Betow provides that once a driver is stopped for a traffic violation, he or she may be detained for purposes reasonably related to the nature of the initial stop, however, the scope of the original detention may only be enlarged if “additional suspicious factors” come to light which objectively give rise to a reasonable inference that other crimes have been committed. *Id.* at 93-95. The *Betow* court held:

The key is the “reasonable relationship” between the detention and the reasons for which the stop was made. If such an “articulable suspicion” exists, the person may be temporarily stopped and detained to allow the officer to “investigate the circumstances that provoke suspicion” as long as “the stop and inquiry [are] reasonably related in scope to the justification for their initiation.” If, during a valid traffic stop, the officer becomes aware of additional suspicious factors which are sufficient to give rise to an articulable suspicion that the person has committed or is committing an offense or offenses separate and distinct from the acts that prompted the officer’s intervention in the first place, the stop may be extended and a new investigation begun. The validity of the extension is tested in the same manner, and under the same criteria, as the initial stop.

Id. at 94-95, quoting *Berkemer v. McCarty*, 468 U.S. 420, 439 (1975).

Betow involved a circumstance in which the defendant had been stopped by an officer for speeding. *Betow*, 226 Wis. 2d at 91. When the officer approached Betow's vehicle to speak with him, he observed that Betow appeared to be nervous, gave inconsistent answers to where he was traveling, and that when he was asked for identification, the officer observed that a mushroom was embroidered on the outside of Betow's wallet. *Id.* The officer testified that it was his experience that persons with such wallets often were drug users. *Id.* The officer detained Betow further to await the arrival of a K9 Unit. *Id.* at 93. Ultimately, the *Betow* court found that Betow's right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures was violated because the mushroom sewn on Betow's wallet, his seemingly inconsistent responses to questions, and his nervous appearance were insufficient grounds to enlarge the scope of Betow's detention beyond the speeding allegation. *Id.* at 98-99. The same principle is applicable to the instant case.

The "additional suspicious factors" referred to by the *Betow* court are examined objectively, *i.e.* the appropriate measure of whether a detention is constitutionally reasonable is an objective test examined under the totality of the circumstances.

The test is an objective test. Law enforcement officers may only infringe on the individual's interest to be free of a stop and detention if they have a suspicion grounded in specific, articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts, that the individual has committed a crime. An inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or 'hunch' . . . will not suffice.

State v. Guzy, 139 Wis. 2d 663, 675, 407 N.W.2d 548 (1987)(internal quotations omitted); *United States v. Pavelski*, 789 F.2d 485, 489 (7th Cir. 1986). "When determining if the standard of reasonable suspicion [is] met, those facts known to the officer must be considered together as a totality of the circumstances. *State v. Richardson*, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 139-40, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990)." *State v. Powers*, 2004 WI App. 143, ¶ 7, 275 Wis. 2d 456, 685 N.W.2d 869.

The United States Supreme Court emphasized the need for an objective suspicion of wrongdoing in *United States v. Cortez*, 449 U.S. 411 (1981). The *Cortez* Court concluded that the totality of the circumstances

must raise a suspicion that the particular individual being stopped is engaged in wrongdoing. Chief Justice Warren, speaking for the Court in *Terry v. Ohio*, *supra*, said ‘[that] this demand for specificity in the information upon which police action is predicated is *the central teaching of this Court’s Fourth Amendment jurisprudence.*’

Cortez, 499 U.S. at 418 (emphasis in original), citing *Brown v. Texas*, 443 U.S. 47, 51 (1979); *Delaware v. Prouse*, 440 U.S. 648, 661-63 (1979); *United States v. Brignoni-Ponce*, 422 U.S. 873, 884 (1975).

The notion that an investigatory detention is constitutionally justifiable is premised upon there being a particularized basis for suspecting that the person who is detained is engaged in some illegal activity. *Ornelas*, 517 U.S. at 696. A particularized basis is one which requires that there be some nexus, or link, between the officer’s action in detaining a suspect and the suspect actually engaging “in wrongdoing.”

2. Specific Examples Relating to Expanding the Scope of a Detention.

The instant case presents a circumstance in which an individual is detained for not having his headlamps lit. Upon approaching the person, the detaining officer observes a *faint* odor of intoxicants emanating *from the vehicle*, however, the officer neither ties the odor directly to Mr. Lang’s person nor does he note that the odor was of a moderate or strong nature—characterizing it as “faint.” Additionally, the officer does not note any other indicia of impairment, such as Mr. Lang fumbling for his driver’s license, avoiding eye contact, having bloodshot or glassy eyes, *etc.* The question arises under this set of circumstances whether sufficient facts have been discovered beyond the reason for the initial detention (the headlamp violation) which would justify an enlargement of the scope of that detention to include an investigation for impaired driving. Fortunately for this Court, direction has been given by other courts on this matter, including *State v. Gonzalez*, No. 2013AP2535-CR, 2014 WI App 71, 354 Wis. 2d 625, 848 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. May 8, 2014)(unpublished); *State v. Meye*, No. 2010AP336-CR, 2010 WI App 120, 329 N.W.2d 272, 789 N.W.2d 755 (Ct. App. July 14, 2010)(unpublished), and *County*

of *Sauk v. Leon*, No. 2010AP1593, 2011 WI App 1, 330 Wis. 2d 836, 794 N.W.2d 929 (Ct. App. Nov. 24, 2010)(unpublished).²

In *Gonzalez*, the court of appeals examined whether the extension of Ms. Gonzalez's detention to include an investigation for impaired driving was justified under the circumstances of her case. *Id.* ¶ 1. More specifically, Gonzalez was initially detained for having a defective headlight (very similar to the facts of the instant case). *Id.* ¶ 3. After the detaining officer approached Gonzalez's vehicle, he observed that Ms. Gonzalez had an odor of intoxicants about her person, but he did not observe any slurred speech or bloodshot eyes. *Id.* ¶ 4. Nevertheless, the officer had Gonzalez alight from her vehicle to perform field sobriety tests. *Id.* ¶ 5.

Gonzalez moved to suppress the evidence obtained after the enlargement of the scope of her detention. *Id.* ¶ 6. The circuit court denied Ms. Gonzalez's motion to suppress evidence on the ground that (1) she had an odor of intoxicants emanating from her *person*, and (2) she had "told an untruth" to the officer because she denied consuming intoxicants *yet the odor was not coming from her vehicle but rather from her person*. *Id.* ¶¶ 1, 7.

The court of appeals reversed the decision of the lower court. *Id.* ¶ 26. In reaching its holding, the *Gonzalez* court examined other decisions of a similar nature which reached the same conclusion as it did. It is worth quoting the *Gonzalez* court at length here because the cases which the *Gonzalez* court examined are relevant to Mr. Lang's case:

There appears to be no published case law addressing reasonable suspicion on similar facts. As to the odor of intoxication alone, neither Gonzalez nor the State cites a published case addressing whether the smell of alcohol coming from a **driver** is sufficient to provide reasonable suspicion of intoxicated driving. Gonzalez does, however, identify two unpublished cases that support the conclusion that the odor of alcohol alone is not enough: *State v. Meye*, No. 2010AP336-CR, 2010 WI App 120, 329 N.W.2d 272, 789 N.W.2d 755, unpublished slip op. (WI App July 14, 2010), and *County of Sauk v. Leon*, No. 2010AP 1593, 2011 WI App 1, 330 Wis. 2d 836, 794 N.W.2d 929, unpublished slip op. (WI App Nov. 24, 2010). Both cases, in terms of the odor of alcohol and the time of day, are as suspicious or more suspicious than the facts here.

² The foregoing decisions are limited precedent opinions which may be cited for their persuasive value pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.23 (2023-24).

In *Meye*, at 3:23 a.m., a police officer detected a “strong” odor of intoxicants coming from two individuals who had just exited a vehicle, but the officer could not determine whether the odor was coming from the driver or the passenger. *Meye*, No. 2010AP336-CR, 2010 WI App 120, ¶ 2, 329 Wis. 2d 272, 789 N.W.2d 755. The officer initiated an investigatory stop of the driver on this basis. *See id.*, ¶¶ 2-3. The court in *Meye* rejected the proposition that the odor was enough to provide reasonable suspicion. *Id.*, ¶ 6. The court indicated that there were no cases, published or unpublished, in which a court has held that “reasonable suspicion to seize a person on suspicion of drunk driving arises simply from smelling alcohol on a person who has alighted from a vehicle after it has stopped.” *Id.*; *see also*, *State v. Resch*, No. 2010AP2321-CR, 2011 WI App 75, 334 Wis. 2d 147, 799 N.W.2d 929, unpublished slip op., ¶ 19 (WI App Apr. 27, 2011 (“In *Meye*, this court held that the mere odor of intoxicants does not constitute reasonable suspicion that a driver is intoxicated. . . .”). So far as I can tell, the *Meye* court’s decision did not hinge on the ambiguity of whether the odor was coming from the driver or passenger. Rather, the court concluded that this ambiguity “exacerbated” “[t]he weakness of this seizure.” *See Meye*, 2010AP336-CR, 2010 WI App 120, ¶ 9, 329 Wis. 2d 272, 789 N.W.2d 755.

In *Leon*, at approximately 11:00 p.m., a police officer detected alcohol on the breath of a suspect who admitted to consuming one beer with dinner an hour or two earlier. *See Leon*, No. 2010AP 1593, 2011 WI App 1, ¶¶ 2, 9-10, 330 Wis. 2d 836, 794 N.W.2d 929. The court in *Leon* concluded that the “admission of having consumed one beer with an evening meal, together with an odor [of intoxicants] of unspecified intensity,” was not sufficient to provide reasonable suspicion of intoxicated driving. *Id.*, ¶ 28.

Gonzalez, 2014 WI App 71, ¶¶ 18-20 (footnotes omitted; emphasis added). As discussed below, the *Gonzalez* court’s observations should play a pivotal role in the outcome of Mr. Lang’s case.

II. APPLICATION OF THE LAW TO THE FACTS.

The question in the instant appeal is whether sufficient objective facts existed under the totality of the circumstances to excite a belief in Officer Gall that Mr. Lang was “engaged in wrongdoing.” The totality of the facts known to the officer at the time he elected to enlarge the scope of Mr. Lang’s detention do *not* rise to this level when examined as a totality.

First, even though the circuit court characterized Mr. Lang as being “baffled,” the bulk of the evidence adduced in his case indicates that his mentation was not affected by alcohol. For example, Mr. Lang appropriately responded to

Officer Gall's questions and engaged in a cogent conversation without exhibiting any problems. Simply because Mr. Lang was "hesitant"³ to provide information to the officer is indicative of naught as he is under *no* obligation to provide detailed information to the officer.

Apart from this, Mr. Lang responded appropriately to other questions put to him, and moreover, he had his driver's license ready to give the officer upon his approach, indicating a situational *awareness*. Additionally, it is part of the common stock of knowledge that alcohol does not discriminate. That is, it impairs mentation as well as coordination and when a person is alleged to be "under the influence of an intoxicant," the *absence* of any mental impairment undermines the conclusion that an individual is "under the influence." If Mr. Lang's ability to think clearly was truly impaired by the consumption of alcohol then why is this impairment not exhibited elsewhere throughout Mr. Lang's initial encounter with the officer? In fact, *quite to the contrary*, Officer Gall stated that Mr. Lang had done "the smart thing" by pulling over to text. Clearly, Mr. Lang was thinking reasonably, intelligently, and appropriately by pulling over to text as *the City's own witness* characterized it.

Second, it should be emphasized that the lower court did not find Officer Gall credible on the issue of Mr. Lang's speech being "slurred." The court expressly found that it was *not*.

Third, Officer Gall did not claim to observe that Mr. Lang had bloodshot or glassy eyes—observations which are made in nearly 100% of all impaired driving prosecutions.

Fourth, there is no allegation that Mr. Lang had any difficulty with his fine motor skills, as is often noted, by fumbling for his driver's license or insurance information.

Fifth, it is patently *unjust* to consider that Mr. Lang being stopped in a school parking lot for the purpose of safely sending texts is indicative of impairment because this conduct is *precisely what society expects and encourages*. Currently, there is a U.S. Department of Transportation media campaign to "Stop Wrecks. Stop Texts" because texting is a major factor in numerous motor vehicle accidents. To encourage such behavior but then use the behavior of the compliant citizen

³ R31 at p.4; D-App. at 106.

against him for purposes of alleging “impairment” is utterly disingenuous and, frankly, approaches a form of entrapment.

Sixth, regarding Mr. Lang’s headlamps not being lit, the *Gonzalez* court was faced with the exact same circumstances, yet it did not put faith in this observation as contributing anything to the notion that Gonzalez was impaired. With regard to the court’s characterization that Gonzalez’s headlamp was defective while Mr. Lang “failed to notice”⁴ his were not, it implies a material difference in a driver turning their headlights on and not realizing they have a defective lamp, as compared to a driver who drives during darkness without realizing they have no lights on at all. As much as the court would like to hang its hat on this argument, it is nothing more than a “six of one, half a dozen of the other” position. In other words, *both* drivers in *either* circumstance are hypothetically “unaware” of the conditions under which they are operating their respective vehicles. If this is evidence of impairment, then the driver with only one working headlamp should be aware of this fact and the *Gonzalez* court should have accounted for this in its analysis, however, it did not consider it a relevant or important consideration, *despite* the fact that Gonzalez drove her vehicle with only one working headlamp. Make no mistake, Mr. Lang is not contending that this is an “irrelevant” consideration which should be wholly disregarded by this Court. What he *is* proffering, however, is that evidence exists on a *spectrum*. Some evidence is stronger, more telling, or powerful than other evidence. For example, it is far more powerful to find a defendant’s DNA on a murder weapon than it is to have a third party testify that the accused was overheard yelling at the victim, “I’m gonna kill you.” Certainly, both may be considered, but it is uncontestable that the former is more inculpatory than the latter. This same notion is true of the *de minimus* weight the *Gonzalez* court gave to Gonzalez’s operation of a vehicle with only one working headlight—**something of which she should have been aware** as the lower court implied of Mr. Lang. In this case, the same *de minimus* weight ought to be accorded his operation of a vehicle without its headlamps lit *especially* when considered considering the plethora of additional facts which mitigate against a conclusion that he was impaired. Not every individual who operates a vehicle without its headlamps lit is impaired.

Seventh, the “other” parts of Mr. Lang’s driving behavior demonstrate that he was exercising the clear judgment and steady hand necessary to safely operate the vehicle. For example, as Mr. Lang pulled out of the middle school parking lot,

⁴ R31 at p.4; D-App. at 106.

Officer Gall testified that he turned into the appropriate lane of travel; was not speeding; did not operate his vehicle in an erratic manner in that he did not swerve, weave, or deviate from his lane; and properly signaled his exit from the parking lot. Moreover, when Mr. Lang pulled over in response to the officer's lights, there was nothing unusual about the manner in which he parked his car or the distance he was from the curb when he stopped.

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