FILED

04-09-2025

CLERK OF WISCONSIN  
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DISTRICT 2

---

City of West Bend,  
*Plaintiff-Respondent,*

*vs.*

Appeal No. 24-AP-2559

Logan Patrick Lang,  
*Defendant-Appellant.*

---

*ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT ENTERED BY THE  
WASHINGTON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT  
THE HONORABLE RYAN J. HETZEL, PRESIDING*

---

**BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

---

HOUSEMAN & FEIND LLP  
*Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent*  
JOHNATHAN G. WOODWARD  
State Bar No. 1056307  
1650 9th Avenue  
Grafton, Wisconsin 53024-2450  
Telephone (262) 377-0600  
Facsimile (262) 377-6080  
*jgw@housemanlaw.com*

##

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The officer had reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop**

The officer had reasonable suspicion that Lang was operating while under the influence. This Court should affirm the circuit court's finding that the officer had reasonable suspicion to extend the stop for field sobriety tests.

#### *A. Standard of review and applicable principles of law*

In appellate review of a motion to suppress evidence, the circuit court's factual findings are to be upheld unless clearly erroneous. *State v. Smiter*, 2011 WI App 15, ¶ 9, 331 Wis. 2d 431, 793 N.W.2d 920. However, this Court reviews *de novo* the legal question of

whether those facts constitute reasonable suspicion. *State v. Powers*, 2004 WI App 143, ¶ 6, 275 Wis. 2d 456, 685 N.W.2d 869.

After a justifiable traffic stop is made, police may expand the scope of the detention to investigate “additional suspicious factors [that] come to the officer’s attention.” *State v. Hogan*, 2015 WI 76, ¶ 35, 364 Wis. 2d 167, 868 N.W.2d 124, *quoting State v. Betow*, 226 Wis. 2d 90, 94, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1999). Such an expansion, when accompanied by an extension of time longer than necessary for the original stop, must be supported by reasonable suspicion. *Hogan*, 364 Wis. 2d 167, ¶ 35. “[T]he legal extension of a traffic stop is essentially a *Terry* investigative stop.” *Id.*, *quoting State v. Arias*, 2008 WI 84, ¶ 35, 311 Wis. 2d 358, 752 N.W.2d 748.

The extension of a traffic stop requires only that an officer be able to point to specific, articulable facts that, when taken together with rational inferences from those facts, would lead a reasonable officer to believe that unlawful activity might be afoot. *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 55-56, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996). While an officer might observe “behavior that has a possible innocent explanation, a combination of behaviors—all of which may provide the possibility of innocent explanation—can give rise to reasonable suspicion.” *Hogan*, 364 Wis. 2d 167, ¶ 36, *citing United States v. Arvizu*, 534 U.S. 266, 274-75 (2002). While any one fact, in isolation, may be insufficient to form reasonable suspicion, the relevant inquiry is the effect of the totality of the facts and inferences from those facts. *Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d at 58.

Reasonable suspicion cannot comprise merely a “hunch” or an “inchoate and unparticularized suspicion.” *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1,

27 (1968). However, reasonable suspicion “need not rise to the level required for probable cause, and it falls considerably short of satisfying a preponderance of the evidence standard.” *Arvizu*, 534 U.S. at 274. Accordingly, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has described the reasonable suspicion standard a “low bar.” *E.g.*, *State v. Nimmer*, 2022 WI 47, ¶ 25, 402 Wis. 2d 416, 975 N.W.2d 598.

*B. The officer had reasonable suspicion to extend the stop*

When Officer Gall informed Lang that the stop was going to be extended, the officer was aware of all of the following facts:

1. Lang was driving at night without turning his lights on.

An intoxicated person is less likely to be aware of the rules of the road and more likely to violate those rules. *State v. Vaaler*, No. 2019AP2174-CR, unpublished slip op. ¶ 16 (WI App Aug. 6, 2020.) Lang points to an unpublished case where the defendant was driving with a “defective headlight;” the court in that case did not appear to factor the defective headlight into the reasonable suspicion calculus. *State v. Gonzalez*, No. 2013AP2585-CR, unpublished slip op. ¶¶ 1, 3 (WI App May 8, 2014.) Lang errs by calling the facts of *Gonzalez* “the exact same circumstances.” (Appellant’s Br. at 16). A driver who turns on their headlights, unaware that one of their lamps is defective, is quite different than a driver who takes to the road at night failing to turn their lights on at all. As the circuit court correctly reasoned, “This is not an equipment problem, but rather an operator error.” (R. 31:4.) Lang’s apparent oblivion to driving after 11:15 p.m. without any lights on at all would lead a reasonable officer to question whether Lang was able to think clearly, appropriately

observe the state of his vehicle, or appropriately observe that there was nothing illuminating the road – and, from that, reasonably infer that Lang was impaired.

2. Lang had difficulty responding to simple questions about where he was coming from.

The officer asked Lang where he was coming from. He said “um, right down the road.” (R. 26, Axon Body 3 Video at 23:18:30-23:18:33.) When the officer asked where he was before pulling over to send text messages, Lang said “um, just literally right down the road.” (*Id.* at 23:18:42-23:18:46.) When asked “where at,” Lang responded “Um, Silverbrook and...[9-10 second pause] I guess I don’t know the other road.” (*Id.* at 23:18:46-23:19:00.) Ultimately, Lang stated he was coming from a friend’s house. (*Id.* at 23:19:00-23:19:05.)

A reasonable officer would take note of at least two suspicious factors here. First, Lang appeared to have difficulty in remembering, describing, or otherwise verbalizing where he was coming from. When Lang stated he was coming from “down the road,” the officer asked “where at?”—not “what street were you on” or “what address were you coming from.” Despite the simple, general nature of the officer’s question, Lang appeared stumped, and remained silent for nearly a full 10 seconds while trying to verbalize a response. (R. 31:5.) While Lang suggests that he “responded appropriately” to questions put to him (Appellant’s Br. at 15), the circuit court’s factual finding was that Lang “appeared baffled.” (R. 31:4.)

Second, a reasonable officer could conclude that Lang was being evasive in his answers by twice responding with some variation of “down the road” to the officer’s question of where Lang was coming from. While a suspect’s refusal to cooperate or answer questions does not alone create reasonable suspicion, a suspect’s evasiveness is a relevant consideration in assessing whether suspicion is reasonable. *State v. Olson*, 2001 WI App 284, ¶ 8, 249 Wis. 2d 391, 639 N.W.2d 207.

3. The officer could smell the slight odor of an intoxicant coming from the vehicle.

Lang was the only person in the truck. The third time the officer approached Lang’s truck, the officer states “I know you said you haven’t had anything to drink tonight, I’m having like a faint odor coming from the truck...are you sure you haven’t had anything to drink tonight?” (R. 26, Axon Body 3 Video at 23:24:30-23:24:41.)

The unpublished cases cited by Lang appear to concern instances where the odor of intoxicants was apparently the sole factor in an officer’s reasonable suspicion analysis. That was simply not the case here; the odor of intoxicants was but one of several suspicious factors that, in their totality, would lead a reasonable officer to suspect Lang to be operating while under the influence.

4. Despite smelling an odor of alcohol, Lang denied three times having consumed any alcohol.

The officer first asked Lang “have you been drinking at all tonight?” When Lang responded in the negative, the officer asked



“none at all?” When Lang continued to respond in the negative, the officer asked “not even one?” Lang again said “no.” (R. 26, Axon Body 3 Video at 23:19:41-23:19:46.) As the officer testified, Lang’s insistence that he had not had anything to drink made the faint odor more suspicious, not less – that most people would simply state they had previously had one or two drinks. (R. 27:15-16.)

Returning to the governing legal principles, while any one fact, in isolation, may be insufficient to form reasonable suspicion, the relevant inquiry is the effect of the totality of the facts and inferences from those facts. *Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d at 58. The officer did not need enough evidence to arrest Lang, or even meet a preponderance of the evidence standard—only enough facts to articulate why a reasonable officer might believe Lang was driving under the influence. *Arvizu*, 534 U.S. at 274, *Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d at 55-56.

The *combination* of all of the foregoing facts would lead a reasonable officer to suspect Lang may have been operating while under the influence. Therefore, it was reasonable for the officer to extend the traffic stop to investigate that suspicion by administering field sobriety tests. This court should affirm the circuit court’s decision and the resulting PAC conviction.

## CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the circuit court’s denial of Lang’s motion to suppress, and the resulting conviction for operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration.